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THEFT OF HONEST SERVICES

I. INTRODUCTION
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code is

entitled "Mail Fraud and Other Fraud Offenses."  This
chapter contains a wide array of fraud statutes, including
what is commonly referred to as mail fraud (18 USC §
1341), wire fraud (18 U.S.C.§ 1343), bank fraud (18
U.S.C. § 1344), health care fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1347), and
securities and commodities fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1348).
Each of these statutes criminalizes a “scheme and artifice
to defraud" and/or to "obtain money or property" by
means of fraud, coupled with the use of the mail or wire
(as to mail fraud and wire fraud). 

Included within Chapter 63 is 18 U.S.C. § 1346. It
bears the title "Definition of `scheme or artifice to
defraud,'" and provides the following:

"For the purposes of this chapter, the term
`scheme or artifice to defraud' includes a
scheme or artifice to deprive another of the
intangible right of honest services." 

This one sentence definition -- a mere 28 words -- is
what is referred to as the "honest services fraud statute"
and forms the basis of this paper.

The honest services fraud statute was enacted in
1988 in response to the 1987 opinion of the Supreme
Court in McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350 (1987).
It has been a "prosecutor's darling" ever since and there
are three cases currently pending before the Supreme
Court (as of the date of this paper) which draw the
constitutionality of this statute under question. It is my
belief and expectation that given the tenor of the oral
arguments in these three cases, the Supreme Court will
declare the honest services fraud statute
unconstitutionally vague on his face.

For purposes of this paper, "theft of honest services"
under § 1346 refers to the concept that individuals,
whether public officials or employees of private entities,
owe a duty to act only in the best interests of their
constituents and employers. 

II. BACKGROUND.
The mail fraud statute, originally enacted in 1872,

and the wire fraud statute, originally enacted in 1952,
both clearly contain language protecting property rights.
However, neither contain language expressly referring to
the intangible right of the citizenry to good government,
or to the intangible right of an employer to honest
services of his employees.

The mail fraud and wire fraud statutes essentially
contain only two elements: (1) a scheme to defraud
money or property; and (2) use of the mail or wire for

purposes of executing or attempting to execute the
scheme. 

The scope of the mail fraud statute was originally
defined by the principles of common-law fraud, which
mandated a tangible loss. However, the courts departed
from the common-law and recognized a theory of
intangible rights. As noted by Judge Learned Hand's
formulation of harm:

A man is none the less cheated out of his
property, when he is induced to part with it by
fraud, because he gets a quid pro quo of equal
value. It may be impossible to measure his loss
by the gross scales available to a court, but he
has suffered a wrong; he has lost his chance to
bargain with the facts before him. That is the
evil against which the statute is directed.  

United States v. Rowe, 56 F.2d 747, 749 (2nd Cir.
1932)(upholding conviction despite fact that victim had
no measurable economic loss). 

In 1941, the Fifth Circuit at least hinted that a theory
of intangible rights could sustain a conviction in a public
corruption case under the mail fraud statute. Shushan v.
United States, 117 F.2d 110, 115 (5th Cir. 1941), cert.
denied, 313 U.S. 574 (1942)(noting that "[n]o trustee has
more sacred duties than a public official and any scheme
to obtain an advantage by corrupting such a one must in
the federal law be considered a scheme to defraud."). 

Indeed, the mail fraud statute and a theory of
intangible rights deprivation was applied to any number
of political corruptions cases in the 1970's and afterward.
See e.g, United States v. States, 488 F.2d 761 (8th Cir.
1973); United States v. Keane, 522 F.2d 534  (7th Cir.
1995); United States v. McNeive, 536 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir.
1976).

Due to Watergate, political corruption became a
priority for the Department of Justice. In 1976, the Public
Integrity Section of DOJ was established and federal
indictments of state and local officials dramatically
increased. One of the first, highly visible public
corruption cases was the prosecution of the Governor of
Maryland, Marvin Mandel. There, the Governor was
tried and convicted for mail fraud based on the fact that
he received economic benefits from a racing association
and failed to disclose his involvement with that
association to the state legislature, which was in the
process of considering a bill which would benefit the
association. The Fourth Circuit endorsed a broad
definition of a "scheme to defraud" and held that an
acceptance of a benefit, a failure to disclose, or a
concealment satisfied the "fraud" element of the statute,
stating that since the term "a scheme to defraud" was
undefined, it was up to the judiciary to define it.
According to the Court, any scheme that is contrary to
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public policy or that conflicts with accepted standards of
moral uprightness, fundamental honesty and fair play
could constitute mail fraud. Id. at 1361. The Court also
noted that the duty to disclose is based on the
relationship of the parties, finding a fiduciary duty of
honesty and loyalty between a governmental official and
that official's constituents. Id. at 1363. Thus, the Mandel
Court certainly approved the concept that citizens have
a right to honest and loyal services from their officials
and could form the basis of a mail fraud prosecution. 

The intangible rights doctrine in the public sector
was subsequently expanded to unelected officials. See
United States v. Margiotta, 668 F.2d 108 (2nd Cir.
1982), cert. denied, 461 U.S. 913 (1983), and a massive
increase in the use of the mail and wire fraud statutes was
off to the races, so to speak. 

By the mid to late 1980's, the statute had been used
for many a political prosecution. United States v. Holzer,
816 F.2d 304, 307-10 (7th Cir.) (affirming the conviction
of a county judge who accepted “loans” from attorneys
who practiced before him, even without a quid pro quo),
vacated, 484 U.S. 807, 108 S.Ct. 53, 98 L.Ed.2d 18
(1987) (remanded for reconsideration in light of McNally
); United States v. Silvano, 812 F.2d 754 (1st Cir.1987)
(affirming the conviction of a city budget director who
did not disclose his secret plan to enrich a friend with an
expensive and unnecessary project bid); United States v.
Lovett, 811 F.2d 979 (7th Cir.1987) (affirming the
conviction of a mayor who accepted an undisclosed 5%
interest in a local cable company attempting to bid on a
city franchise); United States v. Bruno, 809 F.2d 1097,
1104-06 & n. 1 (5th Cir.) (affirming convictions under §
1343 based on a scheme to bribe), cert. denied, 481 U.S.
1057, 107 S.Ct. 2198, 95 L.Ed.2d 853 (1987); United
States v. Barber, 668 F.2d 778 (4th Cir.) (affirming the
conviction of an Alcoholic Beverage Control
Commission official who “withdrew” liquor from a state
warehouse with subsequent “authorization” from liquor
companies so that the companies would be billed), cert.
denied, 459 U.S. 829, 103 S.Ct. 66, 74 L.Ed.2d 67
(1982); Bradford v. United States, 129 F.2d 274, 276
(5th Cir.) (grounding a § 1343 conviction on a scheme to
use city officials' positions to sell buses to the city at
exorbitant prices for unearned profits), cert. denied, 317
U.S. 683 (1942). 

In fact, prior to the Court's 1987 decision in
McNally, many state and federal officials, including
judges, governors, chairmen of state political parties,
state cabinet officers, city aldermen and congressmen had
been convicted under the mail and/or wire fraud statutes
of defrauding citizens of their right to the honest services
of their governmental officials. In many of those cases,
the officials had secretly made governmental decisions
with at least the partial objective of benefitting
themselves or promoting their own interests, instead of

fulfilling their duty to provide the citizens of their
respective governments with their loyal service and
honest government. Similarly, elected officials and their
campaign workers had been convicted under the mail
and/or wire fraud statutes when they falsified votes, thus
defrauding the citizenry of its right to an honest election.
In the private sector, purchasing agents, brokers, union
leaders, and others with fiduciary duties to their
employers or unions had been found guilty under the
mail and/or wire fraud statutes of defrauding their
employers or unions by accepting kickbacks or selling
confidential information. In other cases, defendants had
been found guilty under these same statutes to defraud
individuals of their rights to privacy and other
nonmonetary rights. For instance, a lawyer was
prosecuted for representing one client while his firm
represented a different client and both clients were
competing for the same public contract. United States v.
Bronston, 658 F.2d 920 (2nd Cir. 1981).Consistently, the
Courts of Appeals had held that these types of schemes
constitute a "scheme or artifice to defraud," holding that
nothing in the words "any scheme or artifice to defraud,"
or in the purpose of the statutes, limited the application
of them to schemes intended to deprive victims of money
or property. 

III. MCNALLY V. UNITED STATES.
As noted above, prior to the 1987 decision in

McNally, the federal courts had unanimously interpreted
the mail and wire fraud statutes as including, in essence,
the theories that: (1) a public official could violate the
statute by depriving citizens of their "intangible right" to
honest and impartial services; and (2) a private citizen
could violate the statute by depriving their employer of
its "intangible right" to honest and impartial services. 

In McNally, the Court addressed the issue of
whether the mail fraud statute, § 1341, should be read
broadly or narrowly so as to include the intangible right
of the citizenry to good government.  The Court noted
that the Courts of Appeals had held that the mail fraud
statute proscribes schemes to defraud citizens of their
intangible rights to honest and impartial government, and
that under those cases, a public official owes a fiduciary
duty to the public and misuse of his office for private
gain is a fraud. Id. at 355. The Court also noted that an
individual without formal office may also be held to be
a public fiduciary if others rely on him "`because of a
special relationship in the government'" and he in fact
makes governmental decisions. Id. at 355. 

The Court noted that the language of the mail fraud
statute, originally enacted in 1872, clearly protects
property rights, but does not refer to the intangible right
of the citizenry to good government. The Court was thus
confronted with a clear issue of statutory construction.
The Court examined the legislative history, its 1896
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opinion interpreting § 1341 in the first instance, and the
one substantive amendment to the statute, concluding
that by 1909:

the mail fraud statute criminalized schemes or
artifices `to defraud' or `for obtaining money
or property by means of false or fraudulent
pretenses, representations, or promises....' 

Id. at 358 (emphasis added).
The Court further noted that all of the Courts of

Appeals which had addressed the statute had concluded
that because the two phrases identifying the proscribed
schemes were in the disjunctive, they should be
construed independently and that the money-or-property
requirement of the latter phrase did not limit schemes to
defraud to those "aimed at causing deprivation of money
or property." Id. at 358. However, relying upon the rule
of lenity, the Court held that:

Rather than construe the statute in a manner
that leaves its outer boundaries ambiguous and
involves the Federal Government in setting
standards of disclosure and good government
for local and state officials, we read § 1341 as
limited in scope to the protection of property
rights. If Congress desires to go further, it must
speak more clearly than it has.

Id. at 360.
Thus, the Court held that the mail fraud statute did

not protect "the intangible right of the citizenry to good
government." Id. at 356. According to the Court, this was
a necessary conclusion because otherwise the statute
would be too vague and would involve the federal
government in issues of purely local governance. Id. 

IV. C O N G R E S S I O N A L  R E A C T I O N  T O
MCNALLY
Congress responded to McNally by enacting 18

U.S.C. § 1346 in November 1988. As noted above in
Section I of this paper, § 1346 extends the fraud statutes
identified therein to cover schemes to deprive another of
"the intangible right of honest services."  However,
Congress did nothing to explain what the phrase actually
means, or to even set any outer boundaries of its scope.
The inherent lack of precision in the actual language of
§ 1346 has allowed it to be used by federal prosecutors
to wreak havoc upon private citizens and public officials
who most likely had absolutely no idea (or notice) that
their conduct was allegedly in violation of federal
criminal law, because that conduct was not otherwise
criminal, and if morally wrong, would constitute mere
violations of civil duties (i.e., professional ethics rules,
fiduciary duties or private contracts).

Indeed, since its enactment, § 1346 has been
employed by federal prosecutors to prosecute both public
officials who violate "the intangible right of the citizenry
to good government," and private employees and
corporate fiduciaries who breached contracts, statutory
and common law duties, engaged in conflicts of interest
and/or made misstatements in the course of dealings. As
of January 2009, after more than twenty years of
interpretation, the courts of appeals were still divided on
their interpretations of § 1346, including the following
issues:

* whether a violation of independently
applicable law is required or whether the
duty to provide honest services is a
federal law duty imposed by § 1346; see
and compare United States v. Brumley,
116 F.3d 728, 734-735 (5th Cir. 1997)(en
banc) and United States v. Murphy, 323
F.3d 102, 116-117 (3rd Cir. 2003), both
of which require violation of an
independently applicable law, with United
States v. Frost, 125 F.3d 346, 366 (6th
Cir. 1997), United States v. Sorich, 523
F.3d 702, 712 (7th Cir. 2008), cert.
denied, 129 S.Ct. 1308 (2009); United
States v. Urciuoli, 513 F.3d 290, 298-299
(1st Cir. 2008), United States v. Bryan, 58
F.3d 933, 942 (4th Cir. 1995), and United
States v. Weyhrauch, 548 F.31237, 1245
(9th Cir. 2008), cert. granted, all of which
state that § 1346 does not require a
violation of an independently applicable
law and/or that federal law governs the
existence of fiduciary duty under § 1346.

* whether a person must contemplate some
potential harm to the alleged victim of the
scheme and artifice to defraud; see and
compare United States v. Vinyard, 266
F.3d 320 (4th Cir. 2001), United States v.
Frost, 125 F.3d 346, 368 (6th cir. 1997),
United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers,
138 F.3d 961, 973 (D.C.Cir. 1998), and
United States v. Pennington, 168 F.3d
1060 (8th Cir. 1999), all of which require
some intent to cause harm or the
causation of actual or foreseeable harm),
with United States v. Brown, 459 F.3d
509, 519 (5th Cir. 2006), United States v.
Welch, 327 F.3d 1081, 1107 (10th Cir.
2003), and United States v. Black, 530
F.3d 596 (7th Cir. 2008), cert. granted, all
of which do not require actual or
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contemplated harm to the alleged victim
of the scheme and artifice to defraud.

* whether a person must contemplate some
personal gain from the alleged scheme
and artifice to defraud, see and compare
United States v. Bloom, 149 F.3d 649, 655
(7th Cir. 1998 and United States v.
Thompson, 484 F.3d 877, 882 (7th Cir.
2007), both of which require the
contemplation of personal gain, with
United States v. Panarella, 277 F.3d 678,
691-692 (3rd Cir. 2002) and United States
v. Welch, 327 F.3d 1081, 1107 (10th Cir.
2003), both of which require no
contemplation of personal gain.

V. JUSTICE SCALIA SETS THE STAGE:
SORICH V. UNITED STATES.
In February 2009, Justice Scalia issued a scathing

dissent to the denial of certiorari in Sorich v. United
States, 129 S.Ct. 1308 (2009), contending that
prosecutorial use of § 1346 involving "a staggeringly
broad swath of behavior" justified the Court's attention.
According to Justice Scalia, "[t]here is a serious
argument that § 1346 is nothing more than an invitation
for federal courts to develop a common-law crime of
unethical conduct." Id. at 1310, noting that courts had
upheld convictions of "not only by public officials and
employees but also by private employees and corporate
fiduciaries." Id. If taken to its logical conclusion, the
statute "also renders criminal a state legislator's vote for
a bill because he expects it will curry favor with a small
minority essential to his reelection; a mayor's attempt to
use the prestige of his office to obtain a restaurant table
without a reservation; a public employee's
recommendation of his incompetent friend for a public
contract; and any self-dealing by a corporate officer.
Indeed, it would seemingly cover a salaried employee's
phoning in sick to go to a ball game." Id. 

Justice Scalia noted that despite over two decades of
"attempting to cabin the breadth of § 1346 through a
variety of limiting principles," the Courts of Appeals had
failed to reach a consensus. Id. "Without some coherent
limiting principle to define what `the intangible right of
honest services' is, whence it derives, and how it is
violated, this expansive phrase invites abuse by headline-
grabbing prosecutors in pursuit of local officials, state
legislators, and corporate CEOs who engage in any
manner of unappealing or ethically questionable
conduct." Id. Recognizing the concerns voiced in
McNally and being genuinely sensitive to the concept of
"fair notice," Justice Scalia believed that it was past time
to "squarely confront both the meaning and the

constitutionality of § 1346" and noted that it was "quite
irresponsible to let the current chaos prevail." Id.

VI. BLACK, WEYHRAUCH & SKILLINGS.
The Supreme Court quickly responded to Justice

Scalia's dissent in Sorich by granting certiorari in three
cases implicating the proper scope and interpretation of
§ 1346: United States v. Black, 530 F.3d 596 (7th Cir.
2009), cert. granted, 129 S.Ct. 2379 (May 18, 2009);
United States v. Weyhrauch, 548 F.3d 1237 (9th Cir.
2008), cert. granted, 129 S.Ct. 2863 (June 29, 2009); and
United States v. Skillings, 554 F.3d 529 (5th Cir. 2009),
cert. granted, 130 S.Ct. 393 (October 13, 2009).

Oral arguments were held in December 2009 in
Black and Weyhrauch, and in early February 2009 in
Skillings. All three cases are pending decision as of the
date this paper had to be submitted to the State Bar for
inclusion in your course materials. I fully expect that I
will be able to provide an update to you in July 2010 in
Galveston. 

The issue in Black is whether the "honest services"
clause of § 1346 applies in cases where the jury did not
find and was not instructed on whether the defendants
"reasonably contemplated identifiable economic harm"
to the victim of the alleged scheme and artifice to
defraud. 

The issue in Weyhrauch (separate and aside from the
corresponding issue relating to a special verdict) is
whether to convict a state official under the "honest
services" clause of § 1346 through the non-disclosure of
material information, the government must prove that the
defendant violated a disclosure duty imposed by state
law.

Finally, the issue in Skillings (separate and aside
from the pretrial publicity and presumption of jury
prejudice therefrom, which the Court also heard) is
whether § 1346 requires the government to prove that a
defendant's conduct was intended to achieve "private
gain" rather than to advance the employer's interest, and
if not, whether § 1346 is unconstitutionally vague.

The transcripts of the Black and Weyhrauch oral
arguments reflect that the government conceded in both
cases that theft of honest services must involve a personal
financial interest of the defendant, Black Tr. 31-33, 43-
45; Weyhrauch Tr. 55, and that not even the financial
interest of a son or other close relative falls within the
statute. Black Tr. 31-33, 43-45. Black and Weyhrauch
were both argued by Deputy Solicitor General Michael
Dreeben, who subsequently also argued Skillings. 

This concession appears to be part of the
government's effort to save § 1346 from a vagueness
challenge that is most clearly raised and preserved in
Skillings, but which was the subject of aggressive and
intense questioning in Black and Weyhrauch. In a
nutshell, the government has asked the Court to engraft
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its "core" and "prototypical" understanding" of § 1346,
as it existed prior to McNally, onto the vague statutory
language. Black Tr. 30-32, 43, 46, 48, Weyhrauch Tr. 40,
42, 52. According to the government, the case law prior
to McNally points in a clear direction: that the statute is
violated if there is "a breach of the duty of loyalty, intent
to deceive, and materiality." Thus, the government has
suggested that the Court can save § 1346 by interpreting
it as being limited by those "core" and "prototypical" pre-
McNally principles that the cases established.   

Skillings' merits brief focused on the "morass of
conflict and confusion" about the law's meaning, and
noted that although McNally sought to force Congress to
clarify the "honest services" concept, Congress had failed
to do so. According to Skillings, "it is beyond the judicial
functions to identify ... the crime that Congress failed to
define." Alternatively, Skillings asserted that if the Court
was "inclined to complete Congress' work," the statute
should be limited to bribes and kickbacks, and if the
Court did not adopt that limit, it should nevertheless not
include "pursing [an executive's] normal compensation
scheme" without harm to Enron.  

Given that there is no "federal common law of
crimes," United States v. Hudson, 11 U.S. (7 Cranch) 32,
33 (1812), United States v. Lanier, 520 U.S. 259, 267 n.6
(1997); Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate
Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 181 (1994), and
given the absence of any meaningful legislative history
underlying the enactment of § 1346 in 1988, it appears
doubtful that the Court will opt to devise limiting
principles in order to save § 1346, despite the doctrine of
constitutional avoidance (i.e., the doctrine of avoiding
addressing a constitutional issue unless necessary). My
belief in this regard is based, at least in part, on the above
factors as well as the Court's prior pronouncement that
"[l]egislatures and not courts should define criminal
activity, United States v. Bass, 404 U.S. 336, 348 (1971).

Additionally, under both prongs of the vagueness
doctrine -- fair warning and adequate notice that will
enable ordinary people to understand what conduct is
prohibited by a statute, and minimal guidelines to govern
law enforcement -- it appears that § 1346 can legitimately
be declared unconstitutional. The terms "intangible right"
and "honest services" are not defined in any federal
statute, Black's Law Dictionary, or any modern
dictionary. Given the Court's directive in McNally that
Congress "must speak more clearly," 483 U.S. at 360, the
handwriting appears to be written on the wall,
particularly given the apparent attitudes of the Justices
reflected in the oral argument transcripts. Similarly, the
text of § 1346 places no limits or standards on when
prosecution may be warranted. As noted by Justice Scalia
during oral argument in Weyhrauch (using an example
used by Justice Breyer in City of Chicago v. Morales,
527 U.S. 41, 71 (1999)): Suppose a person who commits

an unjustified homicide is prosecuted under a statute that
says, "it is a crime do to wrong." Weyhrauch Tr. 45. The
person had fair warning before he acted that killing a
person was "wrong" and his conduct was clearly within
the scope of the statute. However, the statute is vague on
its face, "not because it provides insufficient notice, but
because it does not provide sufficient minimal standards
to guide law enforcement officers." Morales, 527 U.S. at
72 (Breyer, J., concurring)(quotation omitted).

While I could well be wrong -- and I have been
wrong more times than I have been right -- it is my best
estimation that "theft of honest services" will be declared
unconstitutional by the Supreme Court before my
presentation of this paper in Galveston. Certainly, I
believe that is the result that is necessary and appropriate. 

VII. CONCLUSION
The "theft of honest services" statute has been 

seriously abused by federal prosecutors. Many courts and
commentators have lamented the absence of fair notice
and the fact that it has been used by overzealous
prosecutors to pursue political targets for what may only
be immoral or unethical conduct. It is my belief that the
Supreme Court will declare § 1346 unconstitutional as
facially vague. If we lawyers and judges cannot reach a
clear consensus regarding its meaning, how can we
expect ordinary citizens to understand what conduct will
expose them to criminal prosecution, or expect
prosecutors not to include their own personal
predilections into the decision making process of what
immoral or unethical conduct should be prosecuted. 
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Text Of Relevant Statutes Chapter 63, United States Code

§ 1341. Frauds and swindles

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or
property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, dispose of, loan,
exchange, alter, give away, distribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful use any counterfeit or spurious
coin, obligation, security, or other article, or anything represented to be or intimated or held out to be such
counterfeit or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or attempting so to do,
places in any post office or authorized depository for mail matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or
delivered by the Postal Service, or deposits or causes to be deposited any matter or thing whatever to be sent
or delivered by any private or commercial interstate carrier, or takes or receives therefrom, any such matter or
thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail or such carrier according to the direction thereon, or at the
place at which it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom it is addressed, any such matter or thing,
shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both. If the violation occurs in relation
to, or involving any benefit authorized, transported, transmitted, transferred, disbursed, or paid in connection
with, a presidentially declared major disaster or emergency (as those terms are defined in section 102 of the
Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 5122)), or affects a financial
institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

§ 1343. Fraud by wire, radio, or television

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or
property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be
transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any
writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined
under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both. If the violation occurs in relation to, or involving
any benefit authorized, transported, transmitted, transferred, disbursed, or paid in connection with, a
presidentially declared major disaster or emergency (as those terms are defined in section 102 of the Robert
T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 5122)), or affects a financial institution,
such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

§ 1346. Definition of “scheme or artifice to defraud”

For the purposes of this chapter, the term “scheme or artifice to defraud” includes a scheme or artifice to
deprive another of the intangible right of honest services.
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APPENDIX

Selected Informations/Indictments: US District Court Western District of Texas
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Case 3:06-cr-01369-FM   Document 11    Filed 07/06/07   Page 1 of 8

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COUR-Iy 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 
EL PASO DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES, 

Defendant. 

§ 
§ 
§ INFORMATION 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ Cause No. EP-06-CR-1369FM-2 
§ 
§ 
§ 

THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY CHARGES: 

COUNT ONE 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1349, 1341 and 1346) 

CONSPIRACIES TO COMMIT MAIL FRAUD 
AND THE DEPRIVATION OF HONEST SERVICES 

Beginning on or about January 1, 2003 and continuing through and including December 31, 

2006, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant, 

ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES, 

conspired and agreed together with others known, but not charged herein, and others unknown, to 

commit offenses against the United States, that is to knowingly devise a scheme and artifice to 

defraud the County of EI Paso and its citizens of the right to Defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services in the affairs of the County ofEl Paso; and to obtain money and property 

by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises; and in furtherance 

of the 'scheme to deprive the County of EI Paso and its citizens of ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

Theft Of Honest Services Chapter 26
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FLORES' honest services and to obtain money and property by material false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations and promises did use the United States Postal Service to send and deliver 

mail, the defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES and uncharged co-conspirators conspired 

to deprive the County ofEI Paso and its citizens of the right to honest services from ELIZABETH 

"BETTI" FLORES and to obtain money and property by material false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations and promises in that, on or about the dates charged, the defendant and others known 

and unknown devised a scheme to make payments to the defendant disguised as campaign 

contributions from others in exchange for the defendant's vote to extend the healthcare benefits 

administration contract with EI Paso County, and in furtherance of the fraudulent scheme to deprive 

the County and citizens ofEI Paso of the honest services of ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES and 

to obtain money by material false representations, pretenses and promises, the defendant and her 

uncharged co-defendants conspired to cause to be sent and delivered and caused to be sent and 

delivered, by United States Postal Service, mail containing requests for reimbursement from 

healthcare services providers; checks written by AA using County of EI Paso funds to reimburse 

health care services providers and other correspondence required as a result of the contract to provide 

third party administration services to the County ofEI Paso, all in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1349, 1341 and 1346. 

COUNT TWO 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1349, 1346 and 1343) 

CONSPIRACIES TO COMMIT WIRE FRAUD 
AND THE DEPRIVATION OF HONEST SERVICES 

Beginning on or about January 1, 2003 and continuing through and including December 31, 
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2006, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant, 

ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES, 

conspired and agreed together with others known, but not charged herein, and others unknown to 

commit offenses against the United States, that is to knowingly devise a scheme and artifice to 

defraud the County ofEl Paso and its citizens of the right to the defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services in the affairs ofthe County ofEl Paso, and to obtain money and property 

by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, and in furtherance 

of the scheme to deprive The County of EI Paso and its citizens of ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services and to obtain money and property by material false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations and promises did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means 

of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce money and other communications to~ wit: 

over the period of the conspiracy, paid cash bribes to the defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES in exchange for her vote as County Commissioner for EI Paso County, Texas to part of 

the underwriting contract for a bond initiative for Thomason General Hospital, an underwriting 

contract for bond issues at the County of EI Paso, and to award financial advisory contracts at the 

County of El Paso and for the Thomason bond initiative; and for the purpose of executing the 

aforesaid scheme and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by means of material 

false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, would knowingly transmit and cause 

to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce writings, 

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds including wire transfers of funds, from the State of New York 

to EI Paso, Texas in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349, 1343 and 1346. 
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COUNT THREE 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1349, 1341 and 1346) 

CONSPIRACIES TO COMMIT MAIL FRAUD 
AND THE DEPRIVATION OF HONEST SERVICES 

Beginning on or about January 1, 2003 and continuing through and including December 31, 

2006, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant, 

ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES, 

conspired and agreed together with others known, but not charged herein, and others unknown, to 

commit offenses against the United States, that is to knowingly devise a scheme and artifice to 

defraud the County of EI Paso and its citizens of the right to Defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services in the affairs of the County ofEI Paso, and to obtain money and property 

by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, and in furtherance 

of the scheme to deprive the County of EI Paso and its citizens of ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services and to obtain money and property by material false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations and promises did use the United States Postal Service to deliver mail, to-

wit: co-conspirators collectively paid the defendant more than $10,000 in cash in exchange for the 

defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES' vote to secure a contract for the EI Paso County 

Parking Garage Annex and to advocate change orders to the parking garage contract, and in 

furtherance of the fraudulent scheme to deprive the County and citizens of EI Paso of the honest 

services of ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES and to obtain money and property by material false 

pretenses, representations and promises, the defendant and her uncharged co-defendants conspired 
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to cause to be delivered and caused to be sent and delivered, by United States Postal Service, mail 

containing checks for payment from EI Paso County, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Sections 1349, 1341 and 1346. 

COUNT FOUR 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1349, 1341 and 1346) 

CONSPIRACIES TO COMMIT MAIL FRAUD 
AND THE DEPRIVATION OF HONEST SERVICES 

Beginning on or about January 1, 2003 and continuing through and including December 31 , 

2006, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant, 

ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES, 

conspired and agreed together with others known, but not charged herein, and others unknown, to 

commit offenses against the United States, that is to knowingly devise a scheme and artifice to 

defraud the County ofEI Paso and its citizens of the right to ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES' 

honest services in the affairs of the County ofE! Paso, and to obtain money and property by means 

of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, and in furtherance of the 

scheme to deprive the County of EI Paso and its citizens of defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services and to obtain money and property by material false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations and promises did use the United States mails to benefit ELIZABETH 

"BETTI" FLORES in her misdemeanor case in exchange for her vote to settle a lawsuit in violation 

of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349, 1341 and 1346. 
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COUNT FIVE 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1349, 1343 and 1346) 

CONSPIRACIES TO COMMIT WIRE FRAUD 
AND THE DEPRIVATION OF HONEST SERVICES 

Beginning on or about January 1, 2003 and continuing through and including December 31, 

2006, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant, 

ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES, 

conspired and agreed together with others known, but not charged herein, and others unknown, to 

commit offenses against the United States, that is to knowingly devise a scheme and artifice to 

defraud the County ofEI Paso and its citizens of the right to ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES' 

honest services in the affairs of the County ofEI Paso, and to obtain money and property by means 

of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, and in furtherance of the 

scheme to deprive the County of EI Paso and its citizens of defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services and to obtain money and property by material false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations and promises did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means 

of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce e-mail communications, to wit: others 

known and unknown offered to pay and paid the defendant money and other benefits in exchange 

for her vote, in her official capacity as an El Paso County Commissioner, to settle a lawsuit against 

the County of EI Paso over a tract of land owned by the County of EI Paso and to sell the land to 

clients of another known but not named herein, and for the purpose of executing the fraudulent 

scheme to deprive the County and citizens of EI Paso the honest services of ELIZABETH 

"BETTI" FLORES and to obtain money and property by material false pretenses, representations 

and promises, the defendant and the uncharged co-conspirators knowingly conspired to cause to be 
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transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign 

commerce writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds including e-mail communications from a co-

conspirator to the assistant ofthe defendant, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 

1349, 1343 and 1346. 

COUNT SIX 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1349, 1341 and 1346) 

CONSPIRACIES TO COMMIT MAIL FRAUD 
AND THE DEPRIVATION OF HONEST SERVICES 

Beginning on or about January 1, 2003 and continuing through and including December 31, 

2006, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant, 

ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES, 

conspired and agreed together with others known, but not charged herein, and others unknown, to 

commit offenses against the United States, that is to knowingly devise a scheme and artifice to 

defraud the County of EI Paso and its citizens of the right to Defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services in the affairs of the County ofEI Paso; and to obtain money and property 

by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises; and in furtherance 

of the scheme to deprive the County of EI Paso and its citizens of ELIZABETH "BETTI" 

FLORES' honest services and to obtain money and property by material false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations and promises did use the United States Postal Service to send and deliver 

mail, the defendant ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES and uncharged co-conspirators conspired 

to deprive the County ofEI Paso and its citizens of the right to honest services from ELIZABETH 

"BETTI" FLORES and to obtain money and property by material false and fraudulent pretenses, 
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representations and promises in that, on or about the dates charged, the defendant and others known 

and unknown devised a scheme to make payments to the defendant disguised as campaign 

contributions and otherwise in exchange for the defendant's vote to secure a contract for digitization 

of court records for the District Clerk's Office with EI Paso County, and in furtherance of the 

fraudulent scheme to deprive the County and citizens of EI Paso of the honest services of 

ELIZABETH "BETTI" FLORES and to obtain money by material false representations, pretenses 

and promises, the defendant and her uncharged co-defendants conspired to cause to be sent and 

delivered and caused to be sent and delivered, by United States Postal Service, mail containing 

requests for the digitization RFP; bid proposals; cashiers' checks serving as bid bonds; verification 

of receipt of cashiers' checks submitted as bid bonds; requests for clarification ofRFP details; and 

clarifications ofRFP details, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349, 1341 

and 1346. 

JOHNNY SUTTON 
UNITED STATES TTORNEY 

By: 

Assistant U.S. Attorney 
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Federal Express, a proposal in response to the Request for Proposal to digitize court records for the 

El Paso County District Clerk's Office, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 

1349, 1346 and 1341. 

COUNT THREE 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1346 and 1341) 

MAIL FRAUD AND THE DEPRIVATION OF HONEST SERVICES 

The Introduction, Scheme and Artifice to Defraud and Overt Acts in Count One of this 

Indictment are incorporated by reference in their entirety as if fully set out herein. 

Beginning on or about October 2003, and continuing through and including on or about July 

11,2004, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants, 

LUTHER JONES, and 
GILBERT SANCHEZ, 

knowingly did attempt to devise and devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud 

the County ofEI Paso, Texas and the citizens of the County ofEl Paso, Texas, living and voting in 

EI Paso County, of the intangible right to honest services of defendant, GILBERT SANCHEZ, an 

elected public servant, and other public servants, in the affairs ofEI Paso County; and the defendants 

knowingly did attempt to devise and devised and intended to devise a scheme to obtain money and 

property by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises; that is, 

defendants, LUTHER JONES agreed to pay, and offered and caused to be offered gratuities, travel 

and money, both cash and in the form of campaign contributions, to defendant, GILBERT 

SANCHEZ, an elected public servant and other public servants, and said defendant, GILBERT 

SANCHEZ, an elected public servant solicited and agreed to accept cash, travel expenses and 

gratuities in exchange for his support and influence in his official capacity as an elected public 

servant, to award a multimillion dollar contract between EI Paso County and 1 and said 

vendor-l was represented by defendant, LUTHER JONES seeking; and in furtherance of the scheme 
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to deprive the County ofEl Paso and its citizens of the honest services of the defendant, GILBERT 

SANCHEZ, and other public servants, and to obtain money and property by material false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises the defendants, LUTHER JONES, GILBERT 

SANCHEZ, and their co~defendants, caused to be sent and delivered, by a private and commercial 

interstate carrier, that is Federal Express, a proposal in response to the Request for Proposal to 

digitize court records for the EI Paso County District Clerk's Office on May 28, 2004, all in violation 

of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1346 and 1341. 

COUNT FOUR 
(18:666(a)(I)(B),2) 

BRIBERY CONCERNING PROGRAMS RECEIVING FEDERAL FUNDS "v 
AND AIDING AND ABETTING 

The Introduction, Scheme and Artifice to Defraud and Overt Acts in Count One of this 

Indictment are incorporated by reference in their entirety as if fully set out herein. 

Beginning on or about October 2003, and continuing through and including on or about July 

11,2004, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant, 

GILBERT SANCHEZ, 

as an elected public official, was an agent ofEl Paso County, and he did corruptly solicit, demand, 

accept, agree to accept and demand for the benefit of any person and cause to be solicited, 

demanded, accepted, and demanded for the benefit of any person, a thing of value from a person, 

intending to be influenced and rewarded in connection with a transaction of EI Paso County 

involving a thing of value of$5000 or more, to wit: the award of a multimillion dollar contract with 

the EI Paso County, which was at all times material to this indictment an organization and a local 

government that received federal assistance in excess of $10,000 during the one-year period 

beginning January 2004 and ending December 2004, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 
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Section 666(a)(1)(B). 

COUNT FIVE 
(lS:666(a)(2),2) 

BRIBERY CONCERNING PROGRAMS RECEIVING FEDERAL FUNDS 
AND AIDING AND ABETTING 

The Introduction, Scheme and Artifice to Defraud and Overt Acts in Count One of this 

Indictment are incorporated by reference in their entirety as if fully set out herein. 

Beginning on or about October 2003, and continuing through and including on or about July 

11,2004, in the Western District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant, 

LUTHER JONES, 

did corruptly give, offer, and agree and did cause to be given, offered to give a thing of value to 

GILBERT SANCHEZ, an elected public official, and an agent ofEI Paso County, and other public 

servants, agents of EI Paso County, intending to influence and reward GILBERT SANCHEZ and 

other agents of El Paso County in connection with a transaction involving any thing of value of 

$5,000 or more, to wit: the award of a multimillion dollar contract with EI Paso County, which was 

at all times material to this indictment an organization and a local government that received federal 

assistance in excess of $10,000 during the one-year period beginning January 2004 and ending 

Decembe! 2004, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(2). 

A TRUE BILL 

FOREPERSON OF THE GRAND JURY 

JOHN E. MURPHY 
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

By:~ " 
Assistant United States Attorney 

33

Theft Of Honest Services Chapter 26




	THEFT OF HONEST SERVICES
	DAVID L. BOTSFORD
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	I. INTRODUCTION
	II. BACKGROUND.
	III. MCNALLY V. UNITED STATES
	IV. CONGRESSIONAL REACTION TO MCNALLY
	V. JUSTICE SCALIA SETS THE STAGE: SORICH V. UNITED STATES
	VI. BLACK, WEYHRAUCH & SKILLINGS
	VII. CONCLUSION
	APPENDIX
	Text Of Relevant Statutes, Chapter 63 United States Code
	Selected Informations/Indictments: US District Court Western District of Texas




